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APPENDIX A

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Westinghouse Electric Corporation Docket Nos. 30-05588
Industrial and Government Tube Division 70-00184

j Horseheads, New York 14845 -License Nos. 31-13372-01G
SNM-182

As a result of the inspection conducted on February 26, 1985, and in accordance
F with the NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C), the following viola-

tions were identified:

A. 10 CFR 20.201(b) requires that each licensee make such surveys as may be
necessary for you to comply with all sections of Part 20.

' Contrary to this requirement, such surveys were not made as were necessary
to assure compliance with 10 CFR 20.106, " Concentrations of effluents to

~

unrestricted areas", a regulation that limits the yearly average concen-
tration of enriched uranium contained in the air discharged to the unre-
stricted area. Specifically, no evaluations were made of air discharged
during conversion of uranium oxide to uranium nitrate during processing on
October 10, 1983

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (SupplementVI).

B. 10 CFR 32.16 pequires that each person licensed under 10 CFR 32.14 submit
an annual summary report to the Commission within thirty days following
the year ending June 30 stating the total quantity of each isotope

' transferred under a license issued pursuant to 10 CFR 32.14. If no
transfers of byproduct material have been made pursuant to 32.14 during
the reporting period,'the report shall so indicate.

Contrary to the above, as of February 26, 1985, the required annual
reports to the commission had not been submitted for the periods ending
on June 30, 1980, thru June 30, 1984.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Westinghouse Electric Corporation,*

Industrial and Government Tube Division, is hereby required to submit to this
office within thirty days of the date of the letter which transmitted this
Notice, a w-itten statement or explanation in reply, including: (1) the cor-
rective steps which have been taken and the results achieved; (2) corrective
steps which will be taken to avoid further violations; and (3) the date when
full compliance will be achieved. Where good cause is shown, consideration
will be given to extending this response time.
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